IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from two separate district court orders: (1) the district court's 5/30/2019 Order; and (2) the district court's 6/23/2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment / Granting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by BANA, Prof-2013 M4 Legal Trust, US Bank and Fay Servicing LLC.

A. May 30, 2019 Order

Review of the district court's 5/30/2019 Order is sought concerning the district court's grant of *Sables, LLC's Declaration of Non-Monetary Status* ("Sables' Declaration") filed by Respondent Sables, LLC ("Sables"). AA01122-01126, Vol.V; AA00805-00808, Vol.IV. Sables Declaration sought for Sables to be removed from the case and not required to "participate any further" or be subject to "money damages or attorney's fees or costs" pursuant to NRS 107.029(5). AA00868-00871, Vol.IV.

Even though the district court had previously found that Sables had likely violated the Homeowner's Bill of Rights, the district court granted Sables' Declaration upon its determination that Sables had relied upon information given by the beneficiary of the deed of trust. AA00809-00816, Vol.IV; AA04181-04187, Vol.XVII.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the district court's 5/30/2019 Order, because the Order was dispositional as to all of Appellants' claims brought against Sables.^{1 2 3 4}

Because the district court's 6/23/2021 summary judgment order is a final order, this Court has jurisdiction to consider the district court's 5/30/2019 Order. *See* NRAP 3(a)(1); AA01122-01126, Vol.V. Appellants filed their timely Notice of Appeal on 7/16/2021, and the 5/30/2019 Order is now properly before this Court for review. AA03812-03814, Vol.XVI.

B. June 23, 2021 Summary Judgment Order

The district court entered its 6/23/2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment / Granting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by

BANA, Prof-2013 M4 Legal Trust, US Bank and Fay Servicing LLC ("Summary

¹ NRS 107.029 provides that upon a grant of non-monetary status "the trustee is not required to participate any further in the action and is not subject to any money damages or attorney's fees or costs."

² See NRS 2.090(1) stating that the Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review "any intermediate order or decision involving the merits and necessarily affecting the judgment."

³ See AA00906-00907, Vol.IV. (Claim for Wrongful Foreclosure alleged in the draft of the First Amended Complaint attached as Exhibit 12 of *Plaintiffs' Motion* for Leave to File Amended Complaint to Substitute Parties and Add Additional Claims for Relief AA00836-00917, Vol.IV.).

⁴ See AA01553-01696, Vol.VII (Appellants' Second Amended Complaint filed on 12/20/2019); AA01565-01566, Vol.VII. (Appellants' claim for Wrongful Foreclosure); AA01570-01571, Vol.,VII (Appellants' claim for Violation of Homeowner's Bill of Rights under NRS 107.400-NRS 107.560).

Judgment Order"), therein declaring the order to be a final judgment pursuant to NRCP 54(b). ^{5 6 7}

Appellants filed their timely *Notice of Appeal* on 7/16/2021. AA03812-03814, Vol.XVI. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction to review the district court's 6/23/2021 summary judgment order.⁸

⁵ NRCP 54(b) provides that "the court may direct entry of a final judgment as to one or more, but fewer than all, claims or parties only if the court expressly determines that there is no just reason for delay."

⁶ The district court's Summary Judgment Order adjudicates all motions except for Breckenridge Property Fund, LLC's motion which was granted by separate order. AA03751-03768, Vol.XVI; AA03743-03750, Vol.XV.

⁷ AA03751-03768, Vol.XVI.

⁸ NRS 2.090(1) providing jurisdiction to review a judgment.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal involves issues of first impression, and matters of statewide public importance, and it is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(11); NRAP 17(a)(12).

Respondents' conduct underlying Appellants' claims is both shocking and abhorrent. Appellants have been lied to, manipulated, bullied, wrongfully foreclosed upon, and most recently unjustly evicted from their home. AA02230-02539, Vols.IX-X; AA03671-03697, Vol.XV; AA01553-01696, Vol.VII; AA00809-00816, Vol.IV.

Appellants' home was foreclosed upon on 1/4/2019, not because of any lack of performance on their part, but upon Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA") and its successors in interest's breach of a modified mortgage agreement by refusing payment on the modified mortgage, concealing the validity of the modification, and thereafter, causing the foreclosure of Appellants' home upon the original unmodified mortgage terms. AA00001-00125, Vol.I; AA01553-01696, Vol.VII; AA02304-02305, Vol.X; AA02235-02244, Vols.IX-X; AA02419-02424, Vol.X; AA02467-02506, Vols.X-XI.

The issues presented in this appeal raise issues of significant statewide importance regarding wrongful foreclosure, duties of trustees under deeds of trust, and debtors' rights upon a secured creditor's breach of contract.

Х

A. Declaration of Non-Monetary Status & Substantial Compliance

The district court's determination of the validity of Sables' declaration of non-monetary status under NRS 107.028 over Appellants' objection, and the district court's determination that NRS 107.080 and NRS 107.0805 have been substantially complied with, raise issues of significant statewide importance as to the interpretation of those statutes.

This Court has not addressed what constitutes a valid objection to a declaration of non-monetary status under NRS 107.029, or whether a trustee has properly performed its duties when it has been found to report inaccurate information required to be accurate under NRS 107.080, NRS 107.0805, and NRS 107.400 through NRS 107.560.

Because it is of statewide importance that Nevada mortgage law be used to protect homeowners against wrongful foreclosure, this Court's review of the district court's determination of the validity of Sables' declaration of non-monetary status and the review of the district court's determination that Sables, US Bank, Fay Servicing, LLC ("Fay Servicing"), and Shellpoint Mortgage Servicing, LLC ("Shellpoint") substantially complied with the requirements of NRS 107.080 should be found to be presumptively retained by this Court.

B. Debtor's Rights upon Rejection of Payment by Secured Creditors

A review of the issues resulting from the district court's 6/23/2021 summary judgment order raises issues pertaining to debtors' rights in the circumstance that a creditor rejects payments. AA03763-03764, Vol.XVI.

In this case, Appellants believe that BANA's rejection of payment, and BANA and its successors in interest's failure to provide Appellants the opportunity to make payments under the Appellants' modified mortgage constituted a breach of the mortgage and excused their performance.⁹

It is undisputed in this case that Appellants' mortgage was modified, that BANA had refused payment, and that BANA and its successors in interest never gave Appellants the opportunity to make payment under the modified mortgage.¹⁰

Upon the district court' errant determination that Appellants' knew of BANA's breach of the loan modification agreement in 2009, when no evidence supports that conclusion and when the fact is disputed, the district court improperly determined that Appellants were not excused from payment, and no violation of NRS 107.080 had occurred by the foreclosure of Appellants' home. The district

⁹ AA02247-2248, Vol.IX; Appellants rely upon *Cain v. Price*, 134 Nev. Adv. 26, 415 P.3d 25 (2018) (*citing* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 237 (Am. Law Inst. 1981), and *Cladianos v. Friedhoff*, 69. Nev. 41, 240 P.2d 208 (1952), for the propositions that "a material breach of one party's promise discharges the non-breaching party's duty to perform" and that "an affirmative tender of performance of one party is excused where the other party prevents performance."

¹⁰ AA03380, Vol.XIV; AA03455-03456, Vol.XIV; AA03023, Vol.XIV; AA03443-03444, Vol.XIV; AA02467-02500, Vol.X.

court came to such conclusion upon its faulty determination that Appellants "never intended to make a tender of any amount" and that Respondents had substantially complied with the notice requirements of NRS 107.080. AA03768, Vol.XVI; AA03766, Vol.XVI.

This Court's examination and determination of what contract rights a debtor has when the debtor's payment is rejected by a secured creditor is a matter of statewide importance and would clarify Nevada contract law. Additionally, such guidance may very well help prevent impropriety, fraud, and unjust enrichment.

C. Effect of Nevada Foreclosure Mediation Program Agreements

The district court determined that the Mediator's Statement executed by Appellants and executed on behalf of Fay Servicing, LLC ("Fay Servicing") "settled all claims regarding [their] mortgage." AA03765-03766, Vol.XVI. The district court also found, that by Appellants' agreement to the Mediator's Statement, they had waived their rights to the legal protections provided under Chapter 107 and that Appellants had agreed to "surrender [their] property." AA03765-03766, Vol.XVI.

A determination of whether the simple terms in the mediator's statement can constitute an agreement settling all claims and waiving a debtor's legal rights under Chapter 107 would have statewide implications as to the Foreclosure Mediation Program. Based upon the foregoing, the Nevada Supreme Court should conclude that this appeal is presumptively retained pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and NRAP 17(a)(12).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether the district court committed Reversible Error by Granting Sables, LLC's *Declaration of Nonmonetary Status* over the Appellants' Objection.

B. Whether the district court erred in its 6/23/2021 summary judgment orders in its determination of undisputable fact and in applying the summary judgment standard to the evidence.

C. Whether the district court erred in its 6/23/2021 summary judgment order by denying Appellants' motion for partial summary judgment, and determining Respondents are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

D. Whether district court erred in its 6/23/2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment / Granting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by BANA, Prof-2013 M4 Legal Trust by sanctioning Appellants.

I. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

This is an appeal from two district court orders: the district court's 5/30/2019 Order ("Non-monetary Status Order"); and the district court's 6/23/2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment / Granting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by BANA, Prof-2013 M4 Legal Trust, US Bank and Fay Servicing LLC ("Summary Judgment Order"). The respective orders concern the issue of validity of the foreclosure of Appellants' home, and any liability resulting therefrom.

On 11/7/2018, Appellants filed their Complaint and Application for Ex Parte Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction and Permanent Injunction ("TRO Application"). The district court thereafter entered its order granting Appellants' TRO Application. AA00001-00125, Vol.I; AA00126-00254, Vols.I-II; AA00259-00261, Vol.II. At the 11/20/2018 hearing upon the TRO Application, the district court determined that Appellants were entitled to an injunction and enjoined Sables' foreclosure of Appellants' home. AA00809-00815, Vol.IV. The district court required Appellants to post a bond of \$172,610.67 by 12/21/2018. *Id.* The district court's written order was filed 12/31/2018. *Id.*

Even though the district court temporarily enjoined Sables from exercising the power of sale upon its finding that Appellants were likely to succeed upon their claim that Sables had violated the Homeowner's Bill of Rights ("HBOR") pursuant to NRS 107.400 through NRS 107.560, Sables proceeded with the foreclosure sale on 1/4/2019, and sold Appellants' home to Breckenridge Property Fund 2016, LLC ("Breckenridge").^{11 12}

On 4/15/2019, the district court held a hearing on outstanding motions including *Sables*, *LLC's Declaration of Non-Monetary Status*. AA00805-00808, Vol.IV; AA00817-00820, Vol.IV; AA01122-01126 Vol.V; AA04110-04193, Vol.XVII. At the hearing and in its written order, the district court determined that Sables' declaration of non-monetary status was valid over Appellants' verbal and written objections. AA01122-01126, Vol.V; AA04181-04186, Vol.XVII; AA00817-00820, Vol.IV.

In spite of the district court's determination in its 12/31/2018 Order that Sables "had violated NRS 107.500(1)(b) for failing to provide accurate information required to be provided prior to the initiation of a foreclosure," the Court affirmed

¹¹ AA00814, Vol.IV; AA00809-00816, Vol.IV; The district court's 12/31/2018 Order provides findings that Sables failed to accurately report the principal obligation, the date through which the mortgage was paid, or the applicable interest rate and concluded that Appellants "have established that they will succeed on their claim that Defendants have violated NRS 107.500(1)(b) for failing to provide accurate information required to be provided prior to the initiation of a foreclosure."

 $^{^{12}}$ AA03372-03374; Sables caused the foreclosure sale of Appellants' Home on 1/04/2019.

Sables' declaration of non-monetary status over Appellants' objection. AA00809-00816, Vol.IV.

Between March and April of 2021, Appellants, BANA, PROF-2013-M4 Legal Title Trust, by U.S. Bank National Association, as Legal Title Trustee ("US Bank"), Fay Servicing, Shellpoint, and Breckenridge all filed their respective motions for summary judgment, and related oppositions and responsive papers. AA01869-03742, Vols.VIII-XV.

On 6/23/2021, without hearing argument upon the pending motions, the district court entered its 6/23/2021 Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment / Granting Motions for Summary Judgment filed by BANA, Prof-2013 M4 Legal Trust ("Summary Judgment Order").¹³ Also on 6/23/2021, the district court entered its Order on Breckenridge Motion for Summary Judgment ("Breckenridge Order").¹⁴ Without any explanation provided, the district court's finding in its Summary Judgment Order are inconsistent with its findings in its 12/31/2018 Order determining that Appellants were likely to succeed on the merits of their claim for violation of the HBOR.¹⁵ This timely appeal followed.

Appellants seek a determination of the following:

¹³ AA03751-03768, Vol.XVI.

¹⁴ AA03743-03750, Vol.XV.

¹⁵ *Cf.* AA00809-00816, Vol.IV; AA03751-03768, Vol.XVI; AA03743-03750, Vol.XV.

1. The district court erred in its interpretation of NRS 107.028(6) and NRS 107.029 as to its determination that Sables, as Trustee of the Deed of Trust, was entitled to nonmonetary status, when it proceeded with the foreclosure of Appellants' home;

2. That the district court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents upon determinations that material facts are not in dispute;

3. That the district court erred by determining that Respondents Sables, LLC, Fay Servicing, US Bank and Shellpoint had substantially complied with the NRS 107.080, when none of those entities had ever given Appellants the opportunity to make payment upon the mortgage as modified by the recorded loan modification agreement;

4. That the district court erred by interpreting the mediation agreement between Appellants and Fay Servicing to provide that Appellants had forfeited their rights to enforce the provisions of Chapter 107 of the Nevada Revised Statutes; and

5. That the district court erred by failing to review and address Appellants' claim for violation of the Homeowners Bill of Rights, when the district court had previously found that Appellants were likely to succeed on the merits of the claim.

4

II. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL HISTORY

1. In May of 2007, Appellants purchased their home located at 70 Riverside Dr., Dayton, NV 89403 ("Home"). AA02261-02262, Vol.X. On 5/23/2007, Appellant Vicenta Lincicome (individually referred to herein as "Vicenta") executed an Adjustable Rate Note ("2007 Note") for \$381,150 in favor of Sierra Pacific Mortgage Company and a Deed of Trust ("2007 DOT"). AA02264-02288, Vol.X. The 2007 Note was amortized over 30 years with an initial interest rate of 6.875% and monthly payment of \$2,183.67. AA02264, Vol.X.

2. Appellants failed to make their 6/1/2008 mortgage payment, and on 1/23/2009, BANA (the successor beneficiary of the Note) accelerated the Note and caused Recontrust Company, N.A. to record its *Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust* with the Lyon County Recorder. AA02290-02291, Vol.X.

3. Appellants applied for a loan modification and on 7/11/2009, they received a loan modification agreement ("2009 LMA") and were informed it would become "valid upon signing and returning the documents provided." AA02295-02297, Vol.X.

4. The 2009 LMA provided a new maturity date of 8/1/2049, an interest rate of 4.875%, and a monthly payment of \$1,977.29, which were all effective as

of 9/1/2009. *Id.* Arrears were to be capitalized as of 9/1/2009, and the new principal balance owed would be \$417,196.58 instead of \$381,150.00. *Id.* The terms of the 2009 LMA compared to the 2007 Note would save Appellants \$7,623.00 per year from 2009 through 2014 (\$381,150 x .06875 (APR) vs. \$381,150 x .04875 (APR)).¹⁶ From September 2014 through September of 2018, Appellants would save an additional \$5,717.25 per year over the terms of the 2007 Note.¹⁷

5. Vicenta executed the 2009 LMA and returned the documents in the Fed Ex envelope provided by BANA on 7/31/2009. AA02302-02305, Vol.X.

6. On 9/1/2009, Appellants met "Crystal" at the Carson City branch of Bank of America and made a payment of \$2,267.62. Crystal was unable to find any record of the 2009 LMA in BANA's system, but accepted payment and provided a receipt indicating that the loan payment was made upon account no. "162304785." *Id.*; AA02307, Vol.X.

7. On 10/1/2009, Vicenta went again to the Carson City branch to make her second payment on the 2009 LMA. AA02302-02305, Vol.X. The bank teller

 ¹⁶ *Cf.* AA02265-02289, Vol.X (compare with terms of the 2009 LMA) AA-2296-2298, Vol.X.
 ¹⁷ *Id.*

refused the second payment and indicated that there was no record of the 2009 LMA.^{18 19}

8. On BANA's 10/29/2009 mortgage statement, only the terms applicable to the 2007 Note appeared. AA02309, Vol.X.

9. Appellants continued to contact Bank of America by phone from 10/01/2009 to December of 2011, to inquire as to the status of the LMA and make payment, but BANA at no time provided any information to Appellants that would indicate the disposition of the 2009 LMA. ^{20 21}

10. At the encouragement of a HUD Counselor, Appellants filed for Chapter 13 Bankruptcy protection on 4/06/2010, and listed BANA as a secured creditor on their Petition. AA02304, Vol.X.

11. On 3/22/2011, BANA Senior Vice President James S. Smith executed the 2009 LMA. Thereafter, on 5/4/2011, BANA caused the 2009 LMA to be recorded with the Lyon County Recorder's Office. AA03189-03191, Vol.XIII.

¹⁸ See id.

 ¹⁹ See AA03023, Vol.XIII (BANA's admission to rejecting payment "because there was no record of the LMA in BANA's system").
 ²⁰ AA02303, Vol.X.

²¹ See AA03379-03381, Vol.XIV (BANA's response to Appellants' Requests for Admissions 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8 admitting that it did not communicate with Appellants regarding the 2009 LMA).

12. Appellants requested information on the status of the 2009 LMA between October 2009 and December 2011. AA00246-00254, Vol.I-II.

13. From 10/19/2011 to 12/23/2011, BANA sent the Appellants three separate acknowledgments indicating that Appellants had requested information, and further indicating that BANA would be providing a response. AA03223, Vol.XIII; AA03225, Vol.XIII; AA03224, Vol.XIII.

14. Appellants never received any information as to the ultimate disposition of the 2009 LMA until they received the 11/3/2017 Notice of Default. AA00246-00254, Vols.I-II.

15. BANA did not give Appellants notice that the 2009 LMA had been found, executed, or recorded. AA03195, Vol.XIII.

16. On 11/26/2014, BANA filed its *Motion for Relief of Stay* in Appellants' bankruptcy case seeking relief from the automatic stay to permit it to foreclose upon the 2007 DOT. AA03230-03266, Vols.XIII-XIV. BANA did not inform the Bankruptcy Court of the 2009 LMA, or that it had not sought payment under its terms. *See id*.

17. Between 2011 and early 2018, Appellants, not knowing that BANA had accepted, executed, and recorded the 2009 LMA, continued to work towards saving their home by way of obtaining a modification of their mortgage. AA02302, Vol.X. However, contrary to the district court's findings, Appellants

did not enter into any other permanent modifications of the 2007 DOT that superseded or in any way affected the 2009 LMA.²²

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