IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ALBERT ELLIS LINCICOME, JR. AND VICENTA LINCICOME,

Appellants,

vs.

SABLES, LLC, AS TRUSTEE OF THE TRUST OF DEED GIVEN ΒY VICENTA LINCICOME AND DATED 5/23/2007: FAY SERVICING, LLC PROF-2013 M4 LEGAL TITLE TRUST BY U.S. BANK N.A., AS LEGAL TITLE TRUSTEE; BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.; BRECKENRIDGE PROPERTY 2016, LLC; NEWREZ, LLC D/B/ASHELLPOINT MORTGAGE SERVICING, LLC: 1900 CAPITAL TRUST II, BY U.S. BANK TRUST NATIONAL **ASSOCIATION:** AND MCM-2018-NPL2

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2022 05:57 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Case No. 83261 Clerk of Supreme Court Related Case Nos. 79125, 79152-COA, 83261

Respondents.

APPEAL

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

The district court properly found the Lincicomes were aware of BANA's breach of the LMA in 2009.

B. Finding of Fact 9: No Challenge to Obligation in Bankruptcy

The Lincicomes claim the district court's finding they did not challenge the obligation in their 2010 bankruptcy proceedings is inaccurate and unsupported by the evidence. AOB 27. The district court found that, "[i]n April of 2010, the [Lincicomes] filed for Chapter 13 bankruptcy and listed the debt for the property at \$381,000." 16 AA 03761. This was the amount of the original loan. The LMA had a new loan balance of \$417,198.58.

If the Lincicomes truly believed the loan had been modified, they would have included the new LMA loan balance of \$417,198.58 as the debt for the property and not the original loan amount. 16 AA 3760. The Lincicomes claim they were unaware of BANA's breach in April 2010 and would have challenged the 2007 deed of trust as applicable to the mortgage had they known. AOB 27. However, this argument is nonsensical. If the Lincicomes believed there was no breach and the LMA was the operative contract for the mortgage, they would have listed the balance of the LMA as the secured claim, not the balance from the 2007 deed of trust.

By listing the secured claim as the original amount from the 2007 deed of trust and not the 2009 LMA, the Lincicomes did not challenge the underlying obligation in the 2010 bankruptcy proceedings. The district court properly found the Lincicomes did not challenge the obligation in their 2010 bankruptcy proceedings.

C. Finding of Fact 11: The Automatic Stay

In what BANA can only assume is a reading comprehension error, the Lincicome's claim finding of fact 11 is incorrect because it states the automatic stay was terminated as to BANA in January 2011. AOB 28. Had finding of fact 11 stated this, the Lincicomes would be correct. However, finding of fact 11 states: "In January 2015, the Bankruptcy court terminated the automatic stay as to BANA. A final decree was filed by the Bankruptcy Court in July of 2015." 16 AA 3761. It is undisputed the bankruptcy court terminated the automatic stay as to BANA in January 2015, so there is no error with this finding. 13/14 AA 3222-59.

Despite this finding of fact stating nothing other than the date the automatic stay was terminated as to BANA and the date of the final decree, the Lincicomes use this as a launching point to decry the district court's failure to determine that BANA had "concealed the recording of the 2009 LMA, not only from the Bankruptcy Court, but also Appellants." AOB 30. The Lincicomes claim the district court's failure to find BANA acted in bad faith shows the district court "failed to make the reasonable inferences from the undisputed facts in the light most favorable to [the Lincicomes] as the non-moving party." AOB 29-30.

However, the Lincicomes fail to explain how this finding would have changed the summary judgment outcome. Even if BANA acted in bad faith and had been untruthful with the bankruptcy court, which it adamantly denies, that would not change that the Lincicomes knew about BANA's breach of the LMA in 2009 and yet did not file suit against BANA until 2018, after the statute of limitations had run.

The district court is not required to make findings of fact on immaterial issues. This case is not about BANA's conduct during the Lincicomes' 2010 bankruptcy proceeding, but the 2009 LMA and subsequent foreclosure proceedings and sale. The Lincicomes have not shown (and cannot show) that any of their causes of action would survive a summary judgment motion had the district court held that BANA concealed the recording of the 2009 LMA from the bankruptcy court and the Lincicomes. This argument is nothing more than a red herring.

The district court's finding of fact 11 is objectively correct based on the bankruptcy documents and the Lincicomes' own admission. The district court did not make a finding of fact regarding BANA's conduct during the bankruptcy proceedings, but that does not invalidate the grant of summary judgment on issues unrelated to the bankruptcy proceedings.

D. Finding of Fact 12; No Default on 2009 LMA.

The Lincicomes argue finding of fact 12 is incorrect because it implies they had defaulted on their mortgage loan as modified by the 2009 LMA. AOB 30. Finding of fact 12 states: "On November 3, 2017, Sables, as trustee under the deed of trust, recorded a notice of default." 16 AA 3761. How the Lincicomes can read an implication they defaulted on their mortgage as modified by the 2009 LMA

agreement out of this statement is mindboggling. Especially since the Lincicomes admit the November 3, 2017, notice did not show the terms of the 2009 LMA, but instead those of the original 2007 deed of trust, and that "[a]ll statements issued by BANA and Fay Servicing prior to the foreclosure . . . reflect the terms applicable to the 2007 deed of trust as if [the Lincicomes'] mortgage had not been modified." AOB 30. The facts clearly establish the 2009 LMA was never put into effect by BANA and the Lincicomes' loan was not modified.

The Lincicomes further allege "the district court erred in not concluding that the [November 3, 2017, default notice] establishes that the terms applicable to the mortgage are the modified terms of the 2009 LMA." AOB 31. Additionally, they allege "the district court erred in concluding the [Lincicomes] had defaulted upon their mortgage when they had never been given the opportunity to make payment under the modified terms of the loan." *Id.* As the notice contains the 2007 deed of trust terms, but states the loan was modified, the district court was unable to conclusively determine the terms to which the notice was referring. The district court properly abstained from making any conclusion regarding the November 3, 2017, notice, other than to note it was recorded by the trustee.

Further, the district court never concluded in finding of fact 12 that the Lincicomes had defaulted on their mortgage. The finding merely states a notice of default was recorded, which is accurate. The only reference to the Lincicomes being

in default is in finding of fact 4, which states "[i]n mid-2008, the Plaintiffs defaulted on the loan making less than ten payments." 16 AA 03760. The Lincicomes admit this factually accurate statement. AOB 5. The Lincicomes are trying to find fault with these accurate statements by reading implications and insinuations into the findings of fact that simply are not there. The district court never found the Lincicomes defaulted on the terms of the 2009 LMA.

Finding of fact 12 is objectively accurate, and the district court made no error in finding that Sables, as the trustee, recorded a notice of default on November 3, 2017. The district court was not required to opine about the notice's contents.

E. Finding of Fact 14 & 15: Mediation Agreement

The Lincicomes' complaints as to the mediation agreement reflect a fundamental misunderstanding regarding the foreclosure mediation program. This quasi-judicial proceeding resulted in a signed, binding contract. The Lincicomes were not required to come to an agreement and sign a mediation statement, but once they did, this document was binding, and they were required to abide by the terms. *Jones v. SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.*, 128 Nev. 188, 192, 274 P.3d 762, 765 (2012).

The Lincicomes claim the "simple agreement does not require the relinquishment or surrender of [the Lincicomes'] property in light of Fay Servicing's [deed in lieu] terms," when that is exactly what the agreement requires and states. AOB 33. The foreclosure mediation agreement explicitly states the

Lincicomes are relinquishing the property via a deed in lieu of foreclosure. 14 AA 3344. The foreclosure mediation agreement was signed by the Lincicomes, who then did not follow through with the deed in lieu of foreclosure. The Lincicomes admitted during their respective depositions that they did not have the financial resources to pay any amount towards their mortgage. 16 AA 03762.

To file a lawsuit alleging damages for failing to implement a loan modification nine years prior when you never, at any point in those nine years, had the ability to make the modified monthly payment, reeks of bad faith and provides more than enough factual support for the district court's finding that the Lincicomes were merely attempting to game the system in order to continue living rent-free in their home for as long as possible.

The district court did not err in holding the Lincicomes agreed to relinquish the property and then failed to do so.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DECIDED SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A. The District Court Properly Found the Breach of Contract and Breach of Duty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Claims Against BANA were Time-Barred

A six-year statute of limitations applies to breach of contract and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing claims. NRS 11.190(1)(b); *see Ocwen Loan Servs., LLC v. BFP Invs. 5, LLC*, 2020 WL 1866267, at *4 n.6 (D. Nev. April 14, 2020) ("Plaintiff's breach of contract and breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims are based on . . . an instrument in writing, and carry a six-year statute of limitations"); *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 2019 WL 1446956, at *2 (D. Nev. Mar. 31, 2019) (same). This limitations period bars the Lincicomes' severely untimely suit against BANA.

The Lincicomes claim the district court erred in finding their "breach" claims against BANA were time barred because the discovery rule and equitable tolling stopped the limitations period from running. AOB 35. They claim, "there is no evidence relied upon by the district court establishing that a reasonable person would have known that they have a cause of action based upon BANA's representation that the 2009 LMA was lost or not in its system." *Id.* The Lincicomes assert the statute of limitations must be tolled until November 3, 2017, when the default notice was recorded and the Lincicomes learned the LMA had been found and recorded. *Id.*

The Lincicomes are essentially arguing that even though BANA refused the modified payment in October 2009 and told the Lincicomes the LMA was not in the system, because BANA said the LMA was lost, a reasonable person would have believed that BANA was not breaching the LMA, but was instead going to find and implement the LMA, no matter how many years passed. They are also arguing they had no obligation to make any payments nor any reason to believe they had a breach of contract or duty of good faith and fair dealing claim against BANA, which flies in the face of the clear and unequivocal facts.

BANA's execution and recording of the LMA has nothing to do with the Lincicomes' breach of contract claim. Had BANA never executed the LMA, the Lincicomes would still have a breach of contract claim, because the claim is that BANA offered Vincenta Lincicome a loan modification on specific terms, which she accepted by signing and sending the LMA back to BANA, and BANA refused to honor it. Whether BANA refused to honor the LMA because it changed its mind or it could not find the LMA to process is immaterial. The breach the Lincicomes allege—that BANA refused to honor the LMA—was indisputably discovered in October 2009 when BANA refused their mortgage payment and the monthly mortgage statement reflected the old loan terms. The Lincicomes' attempt to extend the statute of limitations by claiming the real breach was BANA's execution of the LMA and never informing them lacks merit.

If the Lincicomes did not believe the LMA was valid until executed by BANA, then they should have still made the original monthly mortgage payments. The Lincicomes have not, and cannot, point to a single clause in the LMA that states BANA will notify them when it is executed and recorded. The breach was in refusing to accept payments beginning in October 2009, not in failing to notify the Lincicomes of the execution in 2011. The Lincicomes' assertion that the discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations for their "breach" claims fails.

The discovery rule tolls "the statutory period of limitations . . . until the injured party discovers or reasonably should have discovered facts supporting a cause of action." *Petersen v. Bruen*, 106 Nev. 271, 274, 792 P.2d 18, 20 (1990). This rule requires a plaintiff to use due diligence in determining the existence of a cause of action and delays a claim's accrual until the plaintiff obtains inquiry notice. *Bemis v. Estate of Bemis*, 114 Nev. 1021, 1025, 967 P.2d 437, 440 (1998) (applying the inquiry notice standard to determine when the applicable statute of limitations ran).

The Lincicomes "discovered" their injury when they had facts before them that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate whether BANA breached the contract. This discovery was in October 2009 when BANA rejected the Lincicomes' modified monthly payment. Their mere ignorance should not toll the accrual date. *See Siragusa v. Brown*, 114 Nev. 1384, 1394, 971 P.2d 801, 807 (1998) ("mere ignorance" as to reasonably accessible information will not delay or stop accrual of a discovery-based statute of limitation if the fact finder determines the party failed to exercise diligence).

Equitable tolling only applies when a plaintiff is prevented from asserting a claim by wrongful conduct on the part of the defendant, or when extraordinary circumstances beyond the plaintiff's control make it impossible to file a claim on time. *Stoll v. Runyon*, 165 F.3d 1238, 1242 (9th Cir. 1999); *Alvarez–Machain v. United States*, 107 F.3d 696, 701 (9th Cir. 1996). The party seeking equitable tolling

bears the burden of establishing either circumstance. *Kwai Fun Wong v. Beebe*, 732 F.3d 1030, 1052 (9th Cir. 2013).

The Lincicomes have not carried their burden to justify equitable tolling because BANA did not prevent the Lincicomes from filing claims, and there were no extraordinary circumstances preventing the Lincicomes from diligently suing BANA. This is not a "rare and exceptional" case where tolling should apply. *See Acosta v. Wellfleet Comm's., LLC*, 2018 WL 4682316, at *9 (D. Nev. Sept. 29, 2018); *Alexander v. Aurora Loan Servs.*, 2010 WL 2773796, at *4 (D. Nev. July 8, 2010) ("equitable tolling would not stay the statute of limitations here because plaintiff has not adequately alleged facts showing that she was prevented from discovering this claim earlier").

The Lincicomes keep going back to their claim that BANA did not inform them the LMA was executed and recorded in 2011. 13 AA 3119-21. None of that has any bearing on their breach of contract claim. The breach occurred in October 2009 when BANA refused the Lincicomes' mortgage payment. BANA's failure to disclose to the Lincicomes that the LMA was eventually found and executed did not prevent the Lincicomes from discovering their breach of contract claim. They discovered the claim the moment it occurred. While the Lincicomes may not have been aware of the legal ramifications of BANA's refusal to accept their payment, the statute of limitations does not run from the time a plaintiff obtains legal counsel who explains the law, but instead when the facts constituting the claim were discovered. The Lincicomes cannot rely on equitable tolling to save their late "breach" claims, especially when they admit "BANA breached the contract in 2009." 13 AA 3106.

The application of tolling under the facts here would be contrary to the main purpose of a statute of limitations: "to encourage the plaintiff to pursue [their] rights diligently." Fausto v. Sanchez-Flores, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 11, 482 P.3d 677, 680 (2021); see City of N. Las Vegas v. State, EMRB, 127 Nev. 631, 640, 261 P.3d 1071, 1077 (2011) (equitable tolling will only extend a statute of limitations if a reasonable plaintiff would not have known of the existence of their claim within the limitations period); Bemis v. Estate of Bemis, 114 Nev. 1021, 1025, 967 P.2d 437, 440 (1998) (the time of discovery may be determined as a matter of law where "uncontroverted evidence irrefutably demonstrates [that the] plaintiff discovered or should have discovered' the facts giving rise to the cause of action" (quoting Nev. Power Co. v. Monsanto Co., 955 F.2d 1304, 1307 (9th Cir. 1992))); see also Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. Nye, 80 Nev. 88, 95, 389 P.2d 387, 390 (1964) (holding that the statute of limitations is not tolled "if the facts may be ascertained by inquiry or diligence").

It is unquestionable that the Lincicomes did not pursue their rights diligently and were aware of the facts giving rise to their causes of action by October 2009. They waited almost a decade to sue BANA, years after BANA had no interest in the property. Their claims against BANA are time-barred as a matter of law. Summary

judgment is appropriate when claims are time-barred. *Stalk v. Mushkin*, 125 Nev. 21, 27, 199 P.3d 868, 872 (2009). The district court properly granted BANA's summary judgment motion on the Lincicomes' breach of contract and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing claims.

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